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Non Technical Summary

This report results from work undertaken by Cambrian Archaeological Projects Ltd (CAP) for Haskoning UK Ltd of Westminster, London. The work carried out consisted of an appraisal of previously undertaken desk based assessments and a field evaluation on land at Wear Point, Milford Haven, Pembrokeshire. The appraisal reviewed the previously undertaken desk-based assessments including the documentary, photographic and cartographic sources used. A search of the local HER was also carried out in order to establish whether any new sites have since come to light and should therefore be included within the study. Previous work has been carried out in the area by both Cambrian Archaeological Projects Ltd and the Dyfed Archaeological Trust. The site lies adjacent to a large oil refinery on the shore of the Haven. The appraisal was put in place as a planning condition for the construction of four wind turbines on the site.   
1 Introduction

1.1 Location and scope of work

1.1.1 In October/November 2008 Cambrian Archaeological Projects (CAP) carried out an appraisal of previously undertaken desk based assessments of land to the north west of Wear Point, Pembrokeshire (Fig 1), on behalf of their clients Haskoning UK Ltd.  
1.1.2 This work was carried out in respect of a proposed wind farm development on the site. The development concerns the construction of 4 wind turbines on the site with associated access tracks centred on NGR SM 193871 204546 (See Fig 2).
1.1.3 After consultation with both Richard Kelly of the Countryside Council for Wales and Charles Hill of the Dyfed Archaeological Trust it was agreed that, owing to the presence of the large industrial oil refinery site, an ASIDOHL2 assessment was not required for this particular wind farm application as no further impact to the historic character area was envisaged.  
1.1.4 Given that various desk based assessments have already been carried out for the area prior to the construction and subsequent expansion of the oil refinery site it was felt that an appraisal of these studies would be sufficient to meet planning conditions. 

1.2 Geology and topography

1.2.1 The topography of the area of proposed development is gently undulating from, on average, 50 to 80 metres above sea level. The surrounding landscape is completely devoid of woodland and is characterised largely by the urban and industrial sprawl of Milford Haven, Pembroke Dock, Neyland and the surrounding oil refineries. Although the development area is located within a registered historic landscape (the Milford Haven Waterway) its immediate surroundings are heavily industrial and commercial. 
1.2.2 The underlying solid geology of the Wear Point area is mainly composed of sedimentary formations of Lower Devonian sandstone (British Geological Survey, 1979). This is overlain by Milford, a well drained fine loamy reddish soil (Soil Survey of England & Wales, 1983). 
1.3 Archaeological and historical background

1.3.1 As part of the Historic Landscape Characterisation Project the Milford Haven area was divided up into several separate areas. The area of proposed development lies within the Historic Landscape of the Gulf Oil Refinery. This section will give details of the Historic Landscape within which the proposed development is located as well as those immediately adjacent. The following are extracts from a report by Ken Murphy and Neil Ludlow (Murphy and Ludlow 2002). They are also included as Appendix 1 in the Dyfed Archaeological Trusts 2002 desk based assessment of the site.  
1.3.2 Apart from a very narrow strip of land comprising sea cliffs and cliff top, this historic landscape character area is entirely taken up by an oil refinery and a small industrial estate. Prior to construction of the oil refinery this was an agricultural landscape, almost entirely lying within Llanstadwel parish. It occupied the medieval manor of Waterston, which was a ‘mesne’ lordship of the Lordship of Haverford. On the tithe map of 1849 a very distinct landscape of enclosed strip fields surrounded Waterston village, including the area to the south of the village now occupied by the refinery. These strip fields were clearly the enclosed remnants of the open fields of Waterston manor and township. Later maps show the strip fields, but during the later 19th century and the 20th century some had been merged into larger, squarer enclosures. Elsewhere the pre refinery landscape comprised regularly-shaped fields associated with Newton Farm – labelled Newton Demesne on the tithe map. These fields and farm no longer exist. Construction began on the Gulf refinery in 1966, and the first tanker unloaded crude oil in 1968.  
1.3.3 This historic landscape area comprises a late 20th century oil refinery. It includes all the installations, including jetties for the unloading of crude oil and a mainline railway. Also included in this area is a small industrial estate. A short section of sea cliff and cliff top between the refinery and the sea is the only component of the landscape not built upon.  This is a very distinct area with clear boundaries. It stands in sharp contrast to the surrounding farms and villages.
1.3.4 Located immediately to the west of the area of proposed development is the Scoveston – Burton Historic Landscape Characterisation area. The following are extracts from the Dyfed Archaeological Trusts website:
1.3.5 A large character area lying the north of the Milford Haven waterway, within the ecclesiastical parishes of Llangwm, Llanstadwel, Rosemarket and Steynton. Much of the area formed part of the medieval Manor of Pill, part of the larger Manor (or Sublordship) of Pill and Roch, which was created under the de Roches between 1100 and 1130. Its relationship with the Lordship of Haverford, of which it was notionally a member, was always a matter of dispute. Pill was a large and important manor with a caput at the head of Castle Pill (pill is a local term for a tidal inlet) at the west end of the area – possibly on the site of an Iron Age hillfort and later a Civil War defence. The southeast end of this area lies within the parish of Burton, which represented a detached portion of the Lordship of Pembroke. Burton parish church was present by 1291. The Manor (and parish) of Llangwm, to the north, was a holding of the de Vales until a Roche kinsman, Gilbert de la Roche, acquired it in the late 13th century. The Roches granted ‘six bovates of land in Studdolph, and five acres of land with half a carucate of land in the same township’ to the Tironian Pill Priory in its late 12th century foundation charter. Hayston was present in the 14th century. The present settlement pattern appears to be of relatively late origin as only a few of today’s farms and landholdings can be identified with medieval manors and townships. Scoveston is not recorded until the mid 15th century, while the remainder – Jordanston, Norton, Milton, Westfield etc – were not recorded until the 16th- and 17th-centuries. Some, such as Oxland, are 18th century in origin. Nevertheless, these different periods of origin are not reflected in any differing tenurial arrangements, and a homogenous pattern of enclosure has resulted. By the time of the first estate maps in the late 18th century and the tithe survey in the 1840s the landscape of today had been established. There are hints that at least parts of the area had evolved from open field systems. For instance, enclosed strip fields are shown on estate maps on the east side of Castle Pill and close to the very small village of Burton. No traces of these strips now remain. The area has remained primarily agricultural but its military potential has long been apparent. Castle Pill was fortified by Royalist forces in 1643, with an 18 gun fort garrisoned by 300 men. The massive inland Scoveston Fort was the only defensive work to be constructed after the 1860 Royal Commission report on defence proposed a ring of forts around the Milford Haven waterway to prevent it from landward attack. Railways also crossed the area, to Neyland in 1856 and Milford Haven in 1859.
1.3.6 This very extensive historic landscape character area extends from the town of Milford Haven in the west, along the northern shore of the waterway past Neyland and up to and past the village of Llangwm. Despite its size it is a remarkably coherent landscape consisting of large farms, dispersed houses and large, regular fields. Although it lies close to Milford Haven waterway, this area only directly borders the sea at a few locations near Burton and Llangwm. Pasture is the dominant land-use, with a little arable land particularly in the western part of the area. There is virtually no rough or waste ground. Apart from deciduous trees on steep valley sides, such as at Castle Pill and Barnwell Pill, in some sheltered hollows, and on the banks of the Milford Haven waterway, this is not a landscape characterised by woodland. Occasional trees are also present in some hedgerows. Earth banks topped with hedges are the main boundary type. Hedges are generally well-maintained, although in the northern part of the area some are becoming overgrown and a few are derelict. Burton Mountain and Williamston Mountain, once one of the few open areas on the Milford Haven waterway is divided into large fields by banks and hedges. Apart from Burton village the settlement pattern is one of dispersed farms and houses. There are several mansions and large farms within this area, including Jordanston Farm, Williamston, East Hook and Studdolph Hall. Some of these houses are of some antiquity, such as East Hook, a 17th century and 18th century house next to the ruins of a 16th century house, and others indicate the minor gentry origins of the larger farms, such as the three storey Georgian house of Jordanston. Some of the larger houses, Castle Hall for example, have been demolished. Attached to most of these large houses are ranges of stone-built, 19th century, and sometimes earlier, outbuildings, often arranged around a courtyard, and sometimes set some distance from the dwelling. The wide range of buildings at Castle Hall Farm are a good example of this type. Gardens and parkland survive at some of these larger houses. Interspersed across the landscape are smaller farms. The houses take a variety of forms, but in the main they date to the 19th century, and are stone-built, rendered, slate-roofed, and broadly in the Georgian tradition. Many have been modernised. Older farmhouses and modern farmhouses are also present, presumably replacements of earlier structures. Old outbuildings are also stone-built, but usually of just one or two ranges. Most farms of this size have large ranges of modern steel and concrete outbuildings. Dispersed modern houses are present in this area, but are not a defining characteristic, apart from west and north of Jordanston. Here mid 20th century semi-detached houses in a fairly dense scatter are a distinct feature of the landscape. At Burton, the only village within this area, the medieval parish church of St Mary together with a cluster of late 18th century and 19th century dwellings is surrounded by late 20th century housing, including a small estate. Other buildings include the massive remains of Scoveston Fort, an element of the mid 19th century military defence of the Milford Haven waterway. Given the large extent of this area it is not surprising that there are a large number and variety of archaeological sites. However, these do not greatly characterise the landscape. Of interest are: several prehistoric funerary and ritual sites, including standing stones, chambered tombs and round barrows, an iron age fort with the slight remains of a Civil War fort, several prehistoric find spots, medieval mill and windmill sites, and World War 2 defensive features. 
1.3.7 To the south and east the boundary of this area is very well-defined against the Milford Haven waterway, the town of Milford Haven, the town of Neyland, an Oil Refinery and a large tract of woodland. On other sides this area is very difficult to define, and any boundary should be considered a zone of change rather than hard-edged.
1.3.8 Located immediately to the east of the area of proposed development is the Waterston Historic Landscape Characterisation area. The following are extracts from the Dyfed Archaeological Trusts website:
1.3.9 This area lies on the north side of the Milford Haven waterway, within Llanstadwell parish. It comprises two main land-holdings: Waterston and Honeyborough. The medieval manor of Waterston was a mesne lordship of the Lordship of Haverford, now represented by the village of Waterston. The Manor of Honeyborough comprised one knight’s fee directly held of the Earls of Pembroke as their share of the Lordship of Haverford, and 2½ carucates held of the Barony of Walwyn’s Castle ‘by homage’. Its manorial centre was at Great Honeyborough farm, located in a neighbouring landscape character area. In c.1600 this manor was shared between the Perrot, Bowen and Scourfield families, and then by the Batemans and the Taskers. After 1810, farming tenants held it. Part of this area includes the former open fields of Great Honeyborough which are shown in operation on late 18th century estate maps. Enclosed strip fields, evidence of a former open field system, are also shown on tithe maps at Little Honeyborough and at Waterston. It is likely, that as at Great Honeyborough, open fields were in use at these locations up to the 18th century. On the tithe maps, Little Honeyborough is shown as a hamlet and Waterston as a small nucleated village. Since the tithe survey Neyland has expanded across the former open fields of Great Honeyborough incorporating the village into the town. A narrow band of fields to the north of the town is all that is left. In the 20th century the construction of an oil refinery removed all the fields to the south of Waterston village.
1.3.10 This small historic landscape character area consists of the remains of enclosed strip fields that survive to the north of Neyland and to the north of a large oil refinery, together with the village of Waterston and the hamlet of Little Honeyborough. Enclosed strip fields (former open fields) characterise the agricultural landscape of this area. These are best preserved to the north and east of Neyland and to the north of Waterston. Boundaries are earth banks topped with hedges. Hedges are generally in a good condition, but a few are derelict and some are becoming overgrown. There are a few trees, but apart from on steeper slopes woodland is not a strong characteristic of this area. Land-use is mainly improved pasture with a little arable. Waterston is a nucleated village with mainly 19th century, two storey, stone built houses and terraces in the vernacular tradition. Modern dwellings are also present. An oil refinery lies immediately against the southern edge of the village, and an industrial estate lies to the west. Little Honeyborough is a very small settlement comprising 19th century two storey houses in the vernacular tradition, single storey 19th century cottages and a chapel. The few farms dispersed across the area and within the village and hamlet are relatively small, with 19th century houses, one or two ranges of 19th century stone-built outbuildings and a collection of modern outbuildings. Archaeological sites are limited and consist of a bronze age standing stone, a bronze age burnt mound and some small post-medieval quarries. There are no listed buildings.
1.3.11 To the west, east and south against an oil refinery and the town of Neyland this area has very well defined boundaries. To the north boundary definition is not clear, and there is a gradual merging of this area with it neighbour.
1.3.12 Samuel Lewis’s Topographic Dictionary of Wales in 1833 describes the parish of Llanstadwell and is laid out below. This is an extract from Jones (2007) Cambrian Archaeological Projects report.
1.3.13 LLANSTADWELL (LLAN-STADWELL), a parish in the hundred of RHÔS, county of PEMBROKE, SOUTH WALES, 3 miles (E. by S.) from Milford, containing 733 inhabitants. This parish, which is situated on the northern shore of Milford Haven, comprises a considerable tract of fertile and well-cultivated land, with some portions of hilly ground, which, from its steepness, is but ill adapted to repay the expense and labour of cultivation. At Nayland, which is situated within its limits, it was once in contemplation to construct a dock-yard, for which purpose some lands in the vicinity were purchased, on both sides of the harbour, on which to erect works for its security and defence. Considerable progress had been made in the erection of one of the fortresses on the opposite side of the haven, but upon the death of the late Sir John Phillips, father of the late Lord Milford, who was the principal promoter of the design, the plan was abandoned, after two ships of war only had been built, both of which, the "Prince of Wales," of seventy-four guns, and the "Milford" frigate, were built by contract. The surrounding scenery is finely varied, combining the fine expanse of water in the haven on the south, and the spacious open channel on the west, with extensive tracts of richly cultivated country on the north and east. In the vicinity are several good houses, of which there are within the parish, Jordanston, the property of the Rev. Thomas Wilson; Hayston, the residence of R. Matthias, Esq.; and Newton, a dilapidated old house on a valuable estate belonging to Lewis Child, Esq. The living is a discharged vicarage, in the archdeaconry and diocese of St.David's, rated in the king's books at £7. 17., endowed with £200 royal bounty, and £200 parliamentary grant, and in the patronage of Lewis Child, Esq., to whom two-thirds of the great and small tithes were impropriated, the remaining third belonging to the vicar. Mr. Child has recently disposed of the greater part of his tithes to the respective proprietors of the lands. The church, dedicated to St. Tudwal, is an ancient structure in good repair, pleasantly situated on the margin of the haven, in the southern part of the parish. There is a place of worship for Wesleyan Methodists. Some remains of two ancient British encampments, comprising each an area of about one acre, are visible: one is situated at the north-eastern extremity of the parish, nearly opposite the village of Rhôsmarket and the other at its south-western extremity, on a point on the shore of Milford Haven. The average annual expenditure for the maintenance of the poor is £267. 13. (Samuel Lewis 1833).
2 Aims and Objectives

2.1
The main scope and objectives of the archaeological assessment were to reveal by reviewing previous desk based studies, the nature, significance and, where possible, the chronology of the archaeology within the area of the proposed development. The purpose of the desk-based assessment, in accordance with standards and guidance as laid down by the Institute of Field Archaeologists, is to gain information about the known or potential archaeological resource within the given area (including presence or absence, character and extent, date, integrity, state of preservation and relative quality of the potential archaeological resource), in order to make an assessment of its merit in context, leading to one or more of the following:
· The formulation of a strategy to ensure the recording, preservation or management of the resource;

· The formulation of a strategy for further investigation, whether or not intrusive, where the character and value of the resource is not sufficiently defined to permit a mitigation strategy or other response to be devised;

· The formulation of a proposal for further archaeological investigation within a programme of research if appropriate.
3
Methodology

3.1
For the purposes of the archaeological appraisal the following repositories were visited/consulted for new sources;

· Regional Historic Environment Record

· Portable Antiquities Scheme (Pembrokeshire) 
· Royal Commission for Ancient and Historic Monuments (Wales)
· National Library, Aberystwyth
3.2
At these repositories the following sources were consulted:

· All Ordnance Survey Maps

· Tithe Enclosure Award and Parish Maps

· Estate Maps

· Historical documents pertaining to the site

· Archaeological books and journals

· Unpublished reports

· Aerial photographs

3.3
At the Pembrokeshire Historic Environment Record a 500m search around the edge of the development area for sites added to the HER since 2002 was undertaken. This was then supplemented with a similar search of data held by the Archaeology Data Service. 
3.5
The assessment methods used followed that detailed in the DMRB (Design Manual for Roads and Bridges), Volume 11, Section 3, part 2. All sites identified have been categorised following guidelines set out in the DMRB. The allocation of a set value to a site defines the sites archaeological significance. However, as the HER search revealed 16 known sites yet no new sites added to the HER since previous work was undertaken no values were allotted and no new impact table drawn up. 
3 The Desk-Based Assessment – Search Data
3.1.1 All 16 sites and buildings, as well as their locations, recorded within the study area are shown on Fig 3. As none of these sites were previously unknown and have been covered by previous reports they are not presented within this text. A more detailed description of each of the sites is included in Appendix 4. A brief list of the site types is shown below:
3.1.2 ID1 – PRN4507 – Round Barrow/Motte
3.1.3 ID2 – PRN12904 – Newton (settlement)
3.1.4 ID3 – PRN34964 – Mine Watchers Post
3.1.5 ID4 – PRN43580 - Well
3.1.6 ID5 – PRN45246 - Cottages
3.1.7 ID6 – PRN35086 – Searchlight Battery
3.1.8 ID7 – PRN34846 - Pipeline
3.1.9 ID8 – PRN34844 - Cottage
3.1.10 ID9 – PRN34848 – Mine watchers Post
3.1.11 ID10 – PRN34847 – Navigation Aid
3.1.12 ID11 – PRN34845 – Sea Defences
3.1.13 ID12 – PRN34526 - Cottage
3.1.14 ID13 – PRN34527 - Cottage
3.1.15 ID14 – PRN34528 – Boat House
3.1.16 ID15 – PRN34529 - Cottage
3.1.17 ID16 - PRN34843 – Deserted Rural Settlement
4 Historic Map Regression 
4.1.1 Although the assessment area has previously been subject to various studies no detailed map regression analysis has been produced. The map regression below has been produced using both Ordnance Survey and Tithe maps. 
4.1.2 The 1809-34 2 inch OS Surveyors drawings show the development area although not in any great detail. The farm of Newton Demesne is depicted as is Wear Point itself. Owing to the scale at which the map has been produced no further details or information can be gleaned. 
4.1.3 The main feature of the area as shown on the 1849 Llanstadwel Tithe map is the farm of Newton Demesne. The farm is clearly shown to be made up of several buildings and is located at the meeting point of two, possibly three, trackways. A track way from Newton Demesne to the south east leads to the shores of the Haven waterway and a Weir is marked. Located immediately to the south of Newton Demesne is a field shown to contain two cottages and associated gardens. No other features of significance were noted.      
4.1.4 The 1869 1st Edition 6 Inch OS Map shows the development area in highly clear detail. The farmstead of Newton Demesne is still visible with a well marked to the west. The two cottages to the south are still clearly depicted, also with an adjacent well. Where, on the tithe map, a weir was depicted the names Wear Point and Newton Wear are now marked. A Boathouse is also marked by the location of the weir. Various natural features are named on the 1st Edition OS map. Topographical features along the coastline are given names such as ‘The Bolster’ and ‘The Horseshoe’. A large pier and a structure named ‘Newton Noyes’ are located on the coastline to the west of the development area. A spring is also marked in fields to the north of Newton Demesne. 
4.1.5 The 1895 1 to 25 Inch 1st Edition OS Map shows the area in large scale detail. Newton Demesne can be seen to be made up of around 18 structures forming a large farming complex. The two cottages and gardens marked on the 1849 Tithe map are shown in great detail as is a single structure and associated gardens on the cliff top to the south of the cottages. Various structures are depicted in the area of the boathouse. One is shown as a Limekiln; another is noted as being ruins. No other significant changes or features were noted.  

4.1.6 The 1908 1 to 25 Inch 2nd Edition OS Map shows largely the same detail as that seen on the 1 to 25 inch first edition with very few significant changes within the proposed area of development. Many less trees are marked as being present around Newton Demesne and the development area in general. No other significant changes or features were noted.  
4.1.7 The 1909 2nd Edition 6 Inch OS Map shows largely the same detail as that seen on the 6 inch first edition with very few significant changes within the proposed area of development. Three ‘Old Quarries’ are now shown on the map, two to the east and one to the west of Newton Demesne. Where the boathouse was located on the 1st Edition map two structures now stand. A further spring is located to the east of Newton Demesne. No other significant changes or features were noted. 
4.1.8 The 1948 Provisional Edition Ordnance Survey map again shows a largely unchanged landscape in the area of proposed development. Newton Demesne, now simply called Newton, is still depicted as are the cottages to the south. Structures are still marked at Wear Point also. Triangulation Points are now depicted top the south and south and south east of Newton. No other significant changes or features were noted.
4.1.9 The 2008 Ordnance Survey map shows the landscape of the assessment area as it appears today. The area of Newton Demesne has now largely disappeared beneath the industrial oil refinery site. Structures are no longer evident at Newton Demesne, the cottages to the south have also disappeared as have the structures at Wear Point itself.   
4.2 Aerial Photographs
4.2.1 The area is extremely well covered by aerial photography and various photographs, both vertical and oblique, were consulted during the course of the desk top assessment. Whilst aerial photographs of the site have been consulted for previous phases of work a descriptive text section has not previously been produced. The aerial photographs, whilst of a good quality for study, were not of a sufficient quality when copied to be included within this report. The aerial photographs to which this report refers are available in the site archive.
4.2.2 3G/TUD/93 - March 1946. These vertical shots are taken through thin cloud cover and show the development area in reasonable detail. Newton Demesne farm is clearly visible. Cropmarks are visible at the eastern end of the development. These would appear to be removed field boundaries.  

4.2.3 106G/UK/625 - July 1946. These vertical shots are taken only four months after sortie 3G/TUD/93 and thus show similar details. The picture quality is however much clearer and cropmarks, again in the form of removed field boundaries, are more visible across the development area. 
4.2.4 540/396 - August 1950. These oblique shots show the development area in slight relief. Newton Demesne is visible, albeit not too clearly, and is shown as being surrounded by trees. It is not possible to say whether or not it is still in use at this point. No further features were noted owing to the slight blur of the photographs. 
4.2.5 April 1955. These vertical shots show the development area in great detail. Newton Demesne is shown as still being in use and all the buildings being in apparent good order. The cottages to the south of Newton are also shown to still be standing at this point. No structures can be seen at Weir point. No cropmarks are visible which is somewhat surprising given the clarity of the photographs. 
4.2.6 OS.64.192 - September 1964. This single vertical shot shows the majority of the area of proposed development in a reasonable amount of detail. The farm of Newton Demesne is clearly depicted and appears to still be in use at this point. The site of the two cottages to the south of Newton Demesne is shown although not in sufficient detail for further interpretation. No other significant features are shown. Whilst cropmarks may be visible in certain fields these would appear to be mainly defunct field boundaries and possible track ways.   
4.2.7 OS.65.23.502 - March 1965. This single vertical shot covers the majority of the area of proposed development in a good amount of detail. Whilst only a black and white copy was accessible the original appears to have been an infra red shot as detail of cropmarks appears enhanced.  The cropmarks do, however, still appear to mainly represent defunct field boundaries and track ways. As on the previous aerial photograph (1964) Newton Demesne is still depicted. The two cottages to the south of Newton are also depicted. No other sites of potential significance were noted. 
4.2.8 OS.77.14 - May 1977. This series of vertical shots show a massive change in the landscape of the proposed development area. Between 1965 and 1977 the large oil refinery/storage depot at Milford Haven (adjacent to Wear Point) has been constructed. The site boundary is adjacent to the edge of Newton Demesne farm which, while still visible, is clearly disused. The cottages to the south are no longer visible. Waterfront access roads and piers associated with the depot now appear within the area of proposed development. 
4.2.9 Fairey Surveys Ltd 11th June 1978. This series of vertical shots, originally taken in infra red, shows the area of proposed development in clear detail. Aside from a slight size increase in the access road from depot to waterfront no other changes or features are noted. 
4.2.10 Wild 328 – 20th April 1986. This single vertical shot covers only the eastern end of the assessment area. What has previously been farmland appears now to be composed mainly of rough scrub/bush. Within this no features of significance can be identified. 
4.2.11 Zeiss 630 304.80 - May 1993. This series of vertical shots covers the area of proposed development in reasonable detail. The site of Newton Demesne is clearly overgrown by now. The site of the two cottages and associated gardens to the south has been removed and is now located beneath pier and access track on the waterfront. More access tracks appear to have been developed within the eastern half of the development area. No cropmarks of archaeological significance are visible. 
4.2.12 95 CS 1059 - April 1995. This oblique shot is taken from an original colour slide. It shows a view over the oil refinery/depot looking across the development area. Whilst no particular detail can be observed within the development area it is worth noting the scale of impact the depot has already had on the surrounding landscape. 
4.2.13 Zeiss 630 304.797 - May 1995. This series of vertical shots is similar in detail to the previous set of vertical aerial photographs of 1993. No new changes are noted. 
4.2.14 2000. The image from 2000 is a digital image taken from Getmapping.com. It shows the area of proposed development in very clear detail. It shows that the area of proposed development can be divided in to two halves by this point. The eastern half appears as mainly waste ground seemingly covered by rough scrub/bush. The western half of the area is still being used as agricultural land. Newton Demesne is fully overgrown by this point. Cropmarks are visible but again appear to represent defunct tracks and field boundaries.   
4.2.15 2006. The image from 2006 is a further digital satellite image. Again the area of proposed development is shown in very clear detail. Expansion of the depot to the south between 2000 and 2006 is evident as the site of Newton Demesne has now been removed altogether. A further access track has also been constructed between this southern expansion and the waterfront. The eastern half of the area of proposed development does not now appear to be rough/waste ground but may be agricultural by this point. No further changes of significance were noted. 
4.2.16 2008. The image of the site as it currently appears is taken from Google Earth. No changes of any significance between 2006 and 2008 are apparent. 
5 Discussion and Interpretation
5.1.1 A search of the Pembrokeshire HER revealed NO new sites recorded since the 2002 desk based study was undertaken. 
5.1.2 A search of the Pembrokeshire Portable Antiquities Scheme database revealed no finds having come from within the assessment area. 
5.2 Overall Interpretation

5.2.1 The desk based study undertaken by both Dyfed Archaeological Trust in 2002 (Project Number 45253) and added to in 2007 by Cambrian Archaeological Projects Ltd (Jones, 2007) have sufficiently covered the area of proposed wind turbine development. No new sites of archaeological interest within this area have since been added to the HER. 
5.2.2 Dyfed Archaeological Trusts 2002 desk based assessment report is included as Appendix 1. Cambrian Archaeological Projects Ltd 2007 desk based study is included as Appendix 2. 
5.2.3 Geophysical survey, field evaluation, walkover survey and large area excavation by Dyfed Archaeological Trust (Crane, 2003) on the site revealed a variety of features including a Bronze Age roundhouse, a substantial late medieval/post medieval stone structure and a late medieval/post medieval Dovecote. Evaluation trenches were also excavated on the site of Newton Demesne. Cranes 2003 assessment report for Dyfed Archaeological Trust is included as Appendix 3. 
5.2.4 The overall interpretation of the appraisal, given that the area of proposed development is likely to be reasonably disturbed owing to the large scale development already on the site, is that there is only a small chance of unrecorded archaeological features being located within the proposed development area.   
6 Predicted impacts
6.1.1 The proposed positions of the four wind turbines at Wear Point do not appear, according to the cartographic and photographic sources consulted, to be located close to any visible features of significant archaeological interest (Fig 3). 
6.1.2 The previously undertaken desk based assessments also highlight no potential sites of archaeological interest within the proposed turbine locations.   
7 Proposals
7.1.1 Given Dyfed Archaeological Trusts 2003 below ground findings there remains a small chance of previously unrecorded archaeology being encountered during development. As this is the case the following mitigation strategies are proposed:

7.1.2 As the geophysical survey mentioned in Cranes 2003 report encountered mixed geology which can mask potential features and evaluation trenches are only able to focus on a relatively small area, it is thought best to perhaps recommend a watching brief during construction. 
7.1.3 Depending on the construction methods employed on the creation of new access tracks/compounds/hardstandings etc a watching brief may also be applicable to these. Should these ancillary structures be largely surface mounted with only a shallow excavated footprint this may negate the need for a watching brief during their construction.  
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